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This action involves the Federal Aviation Administration’s (FAA) failure to 

conduct an environmental review mandated by federal law before it changed flight 

procedures and then, faced with potential litigation, FAA’s attempt to cover up that 

failure with a post-decisional “confirmation” of an earlier environmental review 

that FAA itself concluded was never conducted. 

INTRODUCTION 

Los Angeles petitions for review of FAA’s decision to publish and 

implement flight procedures that direct planes arriving at Los Angeles 

International Airport (LAX) at low altitudes over the heart of Los Angeles (the 

Arrival Routes).  FAA’s records show that FAA made its Arrival Routes decision 

without first completing an environmental review of its decision, violating the 

fundamental premise of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. 

§ 4321 et seq., and other federal environmental laws. 

Although FAA now asserts that a former FAA employee conducted an 

informal environmental review of the Arrival Routes, the administrative record 

contains no evidence that the agency concluded such review or reached such a 

determination before it made its Arrival Routes decision.  Nor is there any 

evidence that FAA considered the adverse effects of its decision or undertook any 

consultation on historic resources, parks, or recreation areas protected by the 

National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA), 54 U.S.C. § 300101 et seq., and 
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Section 4(f) of the Department of Transportation Act (Section 4(f)), 49 U.S.C. 

§ 303(c).  FAA violated NEPA, the NHPA, Section 4(f), and the Administrative 

Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701–706, through its complete failure to 

perform the necessary environmental analyses. 

FAA records produced by FAA in response to a Freedom of Information Act 

request reveal why no NEPA determination appears in the administrative record: it 

simply does not exist.  Months after publishing the Arrival Routes, FAA realized 

(and documented) that no environmental review of the Arrival Routes had been 

conducted and no environmental determination had been made prior to its Arrival 

Routes decision—a clear violation of NEPA, the NHPA, Section 4(f), and the 

APA. 

The lack of transparency or public notice in FAA’s Arrival Routes 

decision—followed by an effort to cover up its failure to conduct an environmental 

review—highlight the importance of FAA’s Instrument Flight Procedures 

Information Gateway website (Gateway Site), an FAA website where the agency 

publishes flight procedures nationwide for review and public comment.   

In this petition, Los Angeles also challenges FAA’s decision to restrict 

public comments on the Gateway Site by prohibiting comments on the potential 

environmental effects of proposed flight procedures.  The Gateway Site was a 

critical, and often the only, resource by which the public could review and lodge 
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concerns about the environmental impacts of FAA flight procedure decisions.  

FAA’s decision to restrict comments, without notice to the public, is arbitrary and 

in violation of the APA and NEPA.   

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

I. Los Angeles’ petition for review of FAA’s Arrival Routes decision timely 
challenges a final order under 49 U.S.C. § 46110. 

On May 24, 2018, FAA published three North Downwind approach 

procedures for aircraft arriving at Los Angeles International Airport (LAX)—

identified as HUULL TWO, IRNMN TWO, and RYDRR TWO (collectively, the 

Arrival Routes).  See Excerpts of Administrative Record (ER.) 1–5.  The Court has 

jurisdiction over Los Angeles’ petition for review of the Arrival Routes decision, 

which is a final, reviewable order under 49 U.S.C. § 46110(a).  FAA and Los 

Angeles agreed to toll the 60-day period under § 46110(a).  The petition was filed 

on June 21, 2019, within the tolling of the 60-day period for seeking review under 

§ 46110(a). 

II. Los Angeles’ petition for review of FAA’s decision to restrict public 
comment on flight procedures also timely challenges a final order. 

The Court has jurisdiction over Los Angeles’ petition for review of FAA’s 

decision to restrict public comments on the Gateway Site, which is a final, 

reviewable order under § 46110(a).  FAA issued a disclaimer on the Gateway Site 

that prohibits the public from even accessing the site unless the public user first 

acknowledges that FAA will not consider any comments submitted on 
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environmental impacts of procedures published on the Gateway Site.  See ER.6.  In 

essence, FAA requires members of the public to trade away their right to comment 

on flight procedures in exchange for access to FAA’s information about those 

flight procedures.  FAA’s decision to restrict Los Angeles’ and the public’s 

opportunity to comment on procedures like the Arrival Routes is a final order that 

must be rescinded.   

Los Angeles’ challenge to FAA’s Gateway Site decision is timely under 

§ 46110(a).  FAA did not provide notice of its decision to reverse its long-standing 

policy of accepting comments on the Gateway Site.  Los Angeles became aware of 

the disclaimer on April 25, 2019, when its legal counsel attempted to access the 

Gateway Site to review flight procedures.  Therefore, Los Angeles’ petition for 

review filed on June 21, 2019 was timely and within the 60-day period for seeking 

review under § 46110(a).  Further, FAA continues to publish the disclaimer on the 

Gateway Site and its arbitrary restriction of public review and comment on flight 

procedures is continual.  Therefore, the City’s petition for review was within the 

60-day period for seeking review under § 46110(a). 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did FAA violate NEPA (a) by publishing the Arrival Routes without 

first making a determination on the environmental impact of the Arrival Routes, 
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and (b) by preparing a post-hoc categorical exclusion (CATEX) memorandum to 

“confirm” an environmental determination that FAA reported does not exist? 

2. Did FAA violate NEPA and the APA by applying a categorical 

exclusion to the Arrival Routes (a) based on a false assumption that aircraft would 

comply with the Arrival Routes’ minimum altitudes, and (b) when the 

environmental effects of the Arrival Routes are highly controversial and thus 

require heightened NEPA review? 

3. Did FAA violate the NHPA and Section 4(f) by failing to identify 

historic resources, parks, and recreation areas that may be affected by the Arrival 

Routes, assess the potential impacts of and alternatives to the Arrival Routes, and 

consult with Los Angeles regarding the potential impacts? 

4. Did FAA violate the APA and NEPA by changing its policy from 

accepting all comments on flight procedures on the Gateway Site to prohibiting the 

public from submitting environmental comments and requiring the public to waive 

their rights before accessing information on the Gateway Site? 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

Under Circuit Rule 28-2.7, relevant statutes, regulations, agency orders, and 

other pertinent authorities are submitted in an Addendum attached to this Opening 

Brief.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case involves multiple errors culminating in two unlawful agency 

actions.  First, FAA’s arbitrary decision to amend major flight procedures directing 

planes over the City of Los Angeles without first conducting an environmental 

review mandated by NEPA and federal environmental law.  FAA exacerbated this 

error by attempting to cover up its failure to comply with NEPA by hastily 

assembling a post-hoc, flawed “confirmation” document that purported to confirm 

an environmental determination that does not exist.  Second, FAA’s arbitrary 

decision to restrict the public’s ability to review and provide input on FAA’s flight 

procedure decisions on the agency’s public comment website. 

I. The North Downwind arrival procedures at LAX. 

Congress has given FAA authority to regulate airspace and aircraft 

operations in the navigable airspace of the United States.  See ER.98; See 

49 U.S.C. § 40103.  Congress has also directed FAA to modernize the airspace and 

flight routes to take advantage of improved technology, such as satellite 

navigation.  FAA’s Next Generation Air Transportation System is intended to 

design and modernize new arrival and departure flight paths.  See ER.98.  This 

includes replacing conventional flight paths with more precise satellite-based 

“Area Navigation” (RNAV) routes that take advantage of new technologies—

rather than older ground-based radar—allowing aircraft to fly much tighter 

Case: 19-71581, 10/13/2020, ID: 11856948, DktEntry: 64-1, Page 15 of 73



7 

corridors and concentrating or “focusing” noise.  See id.; see FAA Order 7400.2M, 

Procedures for Handling Airspace Matters ¶ 32-2-2.e (Feb. 28, 2019). Thus, 

RNAV routes result in concentrated aircraft flight paths above people’s homes, 

schools, churches, parks, and historic sites, introducing noise and environmental 

impacts that previously were not present, or not present to the same degree.  

FAA’s adoption of RNAV procedures must comply with applicable federal 

environmental law prior to any final FAA flight procedure decision.  See generally

id.  FAA’s decisions to amend flight procedures are subject to NEPA, the NHPA, 

Section 4(f), and other laws.  See id. at Ch. 32, Environmental Matters; see also

City of Phoenix v. Huerta, 869 F.3d 963, 971–73 (D.C. Cir. 2017). 

Aircraft approaching Los Angeles and arriving at LAX from places 

northwest of the City, and from places to the west across the Pacific Ocean, join 

the North Downwind arrival procedures before the final approach to LAX.  The 

North Downwind arrival procedures at LAX included earlier versions of the 

Arrival Routes—HUULL ONE, IRNMN ONE, and RYDRR ONE—that were 

established by FAA in the Southern California Metroplex Project in 2016, as part 

of FAA’s Next Generation Air Transportation System.  See ER.15.   

The North Downwind arrival procedures—identified as the “RNAV STAR 

Procedures” depicted in orange in Figure 1 below—direct aircraft flying into LAX 

from the north and northwest to the CLIFY waypoint above Santa Monica, across 
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the City flying at DAHJR and GADDO waypoints above downtown Los Angeles, 

before turning 180 degrees to join the final approach course to LAX, as depicted in 

the dotted green lines in Figure 1.  The waypoints are geographical positions on 

flight procedures established by latitude and longitude coordinates and typically 

indicate a change in direction, speed, or altitude along the established flight path.1

See Order 7400.2M, ¶ 20-5-3(a). 

Figure 1 

1 Figure 1 was prepared by Los Angeles World Airports, a department within the 
City of Los Angeles.  In Figure 1, the term “STAR” is used by air traffic controllers 
to indicate a standard terminal arrival procedure.  The term “RNP Procedures” 
depicted by the green tracks are “Required Navigation Performance” procedures, 
which are RNAV final approach procedures into LAX.  These technical procedure 
terms do not have bearing on the issues addressed in this brief. 
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FAA’s procedures require that aircraft comply with a minimum altitude 

when passing by or through each waypoint.  See ER.1–ER.5.  The location and the 

altitude of aircraft using the Arrival Routes has a direct noise and environmental 

effect on the ground.  Thus, the altitude of aircraft at a particular waypoint is 

critical to minimizing environmental effects of aircraft flying the procedures.  FAA 

analyzes potential environmental impacts of new or amended flight procedures 

based on the expectation that aircraft will adhere to all of the precise elements of a 

particular procedure: altitude, latitude, and longitude. 

II. Aircraft flying the arrival procedures have caused and continue to cause 
significant impacts. 

The North Downwind arrival procedures have caused extensive noise and 

other environmental impacts to people, homes, historic districts and protected 

properties, and parks within Los Angeles that far exceed what FAA had expected 

before implementing the arrival procedures as part of the Metroplex project.  Since 

the North Downwind arrival procedures were implemented in 2017, there has been 

significant opposition to the procedures in Los Angeles because the procedures 

have concentrated low-flying aircraft arriving at LAX along a narrow flight path 

across Los Angeles, its historic districts, parks, and neighborhoods.  See ER.94. 

FAA has received an influx of noise complaints from Los Angeles, the 

City’s residents, and the LAX Community Noise Roundtable, a group of 

stakeholders including FAA that was established to address aircraft noise from 
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LAX operations.  See id.; see also ER.76, ER.77, ER.80.  The complaints have 

centered on the low altitudes of planes flying the North Downwind procedures.  

The procedures as originally adopted in 2017 set a minimum altitude at the 

DAHJR waypoint, but they did not establish a minimum altitude at the GADDO 

waypoint.  See ER.95; see also ER.15.  Further, aircraft have consistently failed to 

adhere to the procedures by flying below the minimum altitudes of the DAHJR 

waypoint and at low altitudes at the GADDO waypoint, even though aircraft are 

required to comply with the waypoint altitudes unless directed otherwise by FAA’s 

Air Traffic Control personnel.  ER.94.   

Los Angeles and others repeatedly expressed their concerns to FAA 

regarding the low altitude of planes at the DAHJR waypoint and the lack of a 

minimum altitude a the GADDO waypoint.  In October 2017, Los Angeles 

informed FAA that “[m]any flights come in [at] 1,000, 2,000, and even 3,000 feet 

below the [minimum altitude] at DAHJR, including during late night and early 

morning hours[,] [resulting in a] severe impact as loud nighttime noise disrupts 

sleep patterns and the health of our constituents.”  Id.  At the time, there was no 

minimum altitude established at GADDO, which Los Angeles described as 

“seriously impact[ing] residents.”  ER.95.  Los Angeles urged FAA to establish a 

minimum altitude of 6,000 feet at GADDO and stated the new minimum altitude 

could “be a positive step toward alleviating harmful noise imposed on thousands of 
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our constituents[,]” but Los Angeles requested that FAA “[a]dhere to your own 

mandated requirements for aircraft to be at the [minimum altitude] at DAHJR and 

the soon to be implemented GADDO waypoints.”  Id. 

The LAX Noise Roundtable also has closely monitored the altitude of 

aircraft on the North Downwind arrival procedures and has presented data and 

reports to FAA since the procedures were published in 2017.  See Los Angeles’ 

Motion to Complete the Administrative Record (Record Mot.), ECF No. 63-1, 

Attachment 2 (Declaration of Jeff Camp) at 2–3.2  The Roundtable is considered 

the official forum where aircraft noise issues are considered and evaluated and 

coordinates its work on LAX noise issues with FAA.  Id. at 1.  From September 

2017 to January 2018, the Roundtable submitted no less than five comment letters 

expressing concerns about the noise impacts of the North Downwind arrival 

procedures and alerting FAA that “flight track data since April 2017 indicates that 

most aircraft are flying below the minimum altitudes at both [DAHJR and 

GADDO] waypoints.”  Record. Mot., Attach. 2, Ex. H at 3; see also id. Exs. E–I. 

2 Following FAA’s filing of the administrative record for the Arrival Routes 
decision on October 4, 2019, ECF No. 30, Los Angeles received FAA documents 
in response to a Freedom of Information Act request regarding the Arrival Routes.  
Those documents include agency e-mails and memoranda documenting FAA’s 
conclusion that it did not conduct a pre-decisional environmental review of the 
Arrival Routes.  FAA improperly excluded these documents and other information 
from the administrative record in this case.  Los Angeles has filed a Motion to 
Complete the Administrative Record concurrently with this Opening Brief. 
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In January 2018, a Roundtable Ad Hoc Committee presented FAA data from 

the previous four months showing that 60 to 70 percent of the thousands of aircraft 

on the North Downwind arrival procedures were below DAHJR waypoint’s 

mandatory altitude of 6,000 feet.  Record Mot., Attach. 2, Ex. B at 3.  The data also 

showed that 97 percent or more of the aircraft were below 6,000 feet at the 

GADDO waypoint, including hundreds below 4,000 feet and even 3,000 feet, an 

altitude that is important because it defines the scope and extent of FAA’s NEPA 

analysis of flight procedures.  See id. at 6; see also infra p. 41.   

FAA did not dispute the low altitude of aircraft above Los Angeles.  Rather, 

FAA claimed low overflights were caused by lack of technology in the aircraft 

cockpits and lack of pilot training.  Record Mot., Attach. 2, Ex. K.  According to 

FAA, air traffic controllers “sometimes direct, or vector, aircraft off the 

[procedures] to maintain a safe and efficient flow of traffic in a highly dynamic 

environment.”  Id. at 2 (emphasis added).  FAA explained that the minimum 

altitudes apply “only to aircraft assigned to the procedure” and do “not apply to 

aircraft that have received alternative instructions from Air Traffic Controllers.”  

See id. at 4. Notably, FAA confirmed that it would be revising the arrival 

procedures to include a mandatory altitude of 6,000 feet at the GADDO waypoint 

located above downtown Los Angeles.  See id. 
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Leading up to FAA’s Arrival Routes decision, Los Angeles again notified 

FAA on March 5, 2018 that the City continued to receive an “unprecedented 

number of complaints of noise and other negative impacts” attributed to the North 

Downwind arrival procedures.  Record Mot., Attach. 3 at 1.  Los Angeles informed 

FAA that the complaints “appear in part to be caused by aircraft routinely flying 

below 6,000 feet at the DAHJR waypoint . . . on [the] Northern Downwind 

[procedures],” id., and that Los Angeles was “concerned about low flights further 

east at the GADDO waypoint, roughly located over downtown,” id. at 2.  The 

altitude of aircraft at GADDO was critical to minimizing noise impacts of 

overflights because of the City’s “distinctive buildings,” id., historic resources, and 

parks in downtown Los Angeles, including the Adams-Normandie historic district 

which sits directly below the GADDO waypoint.3

Los Angeles noted that downtown was “densely populated” and if “FAA 

insist[ed] on the Northern Downwind Arrival flight path to intrude over downtown, 

FAA should implement a minimum altitude as high as possible and enforce that 

restriction.”  Id.  Los Angeles’ concerns over the North Downwind arrival 

3 A map prepared by Los Angeles’ City Planning Department illustrates the historic 
properties, Historic Preservation Overlay Zones, and City parks in the vicinity of 
the DAHJR and GADDO waypoints.  See Los Angeles’ Motion for Judicial 
Notice, ECF 66-1.  Information on the properties can be publicly accessed at the 
City Planning Department’s and Department of Recreation and Parks’ websites.  
See Los Angeles City Planning, https://planning.lacity.org/about/department (last 
visited October 8, 2020); see also Department of Recreation and Parks, 
https://www.laparks.org/ (last visited October 8, 2020).  
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procedures were also conveyed to FAA in an amicus brief filed on March 23, 2018 

in other litigation regarding the Southern California Metroplex Project.  See 

Vaughn v. FAA, 756 F. App’x 8 (D.C. Cir. 2018). 

Given the impact of the noise from the arrival procedures on Los Angeles 

and its communities, Los Angeles requested from FAA that any flight procedure 

changes “would need to be coordinated with the City of Los Angeles both as the 

owner of LAX” and “as part of the National Historic Preservation Act, National 

Environmental Policy Act and Section 4(f) . . . processes.”  Record Mot., Attach. 3 

at 2. 

III. FAA publishes the Arrival Routes. 

Two months later, on May 24, 2018, FAA published the Arrival Routes, 

which modified existing North Downwind arrival procedures.  See ER.1–ER.5.  

Among the changes to the procedures, FAA added a minimum altitude of 6,000 

feet at the GADDO waypoint over downtown Los Angeles and maintained other 

waypoints on the Arrival Routes, including the DAHJR waypoint that also 

mandates a minimum altitude of 6,000 feet, as shown in Figure 2: 

Figure 2 
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Thus, the Arrival Routes require that aircraft using the procedures must overfly the 

GADDO and DAHJR waypoints at a minimum altitude of 6,000 feet.  See e.g. 

ER.1 (the Arrival Routes’ Description states that aircraft “cross DAHJR at 6000” 

and “cross GADDO at 6000”). 

Like all of FAA’s flight procedure decisions, FAA’s Arrival Routes decision 

must comply with NEPA and federal environmental law, which require a federal 

agency to determine the environmental effects of its proposed action prior to 

taking that action.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C); see also 40 C.F.R. § 1506.1.  Yet FAA 

did not publish any environmental analysis before it issued the Arrival Routes 

decision, which could have demonstrated that an environmental review of the 

Arrival Routes was conducted.  FAA also did not seek public comment on the 

potential environmental impact of the Arrival Routes. 

Though Los Angeles requested two months earlier that FAA comply with its 

consultation obligations under NEPA, the NHPA, and Section 4(f) (see Record 

Mot., Attach. 3 at 2), FAA did not consult with Los Angeles or provide the City 

with any FAA analysis of the modified arrival procedures. 

IV. FAA confirms there is no pre-decisional environmental review of the 
Arrival Routes and attempts to cover up this error.  

Because of the continued noise impacts from North Downwind arrival 

procedures to Los Angeles’ communities and its historic and park resources, Los 

Angeles was particularly interested in the environmental impacts of the Arrival 
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Routes.  Having not been notified of the results of any environmental review prior 

to the Arrival Routes decision (as would be normal practice if such a review was 

properly conducted), the Los Angeles City Attorney’s Office contacted FAA on 

July 6, 2018, requesting any documents relating to FAA’s environmental review of 

that decision.  Record Mot., Attach. 1 at 2.  Typically, FAA, or any other agency, 

could respond to Los Angeles’ request for the environmental review in short order.   

Under NEPA, FAA was required to prepare an environmental impact 

statement (EIS) or an environmental assessment (EA) to detail its evaluation of 

environmental impacts of the Arrival Routes, or make a determination that the 

Arrival Routes fall within a defined categorical exclusion (also known as a 

CATEX), which are categories of actions in limited circumstances determined to 

present no potential significant environmental impact.  See 40 C.F.R. § 1501.3; 

FAA Order 1050.1F, Environmental Impacts: Policies and Procedures ¶ 5-6 (July 

16, 2015) (Order 1050.1F).  FAA’s procedures for implementing NEPA, Order 

1050.1F,  require FAA to document its determination that a categorical exclusion 

applies to a particular action.  See Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-3. 

Yet FAA did not respond to Los Angeles’ July 6, 2018 request by providing 

any documented environmental review.  Rather, Los Angeles’ inquiry sparked an 

internal FAA investigation to determine whether FAA had even conducted an 

environmental review of the Arrival Routes as required by NEPA, the NHPA, and 
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Section 4(f).  Record Mot., Attach. 1 at 1. (“Do you know anything about these 

procedures?  I am not sure if a CATEX was issued.”).  Agency records show that 

FAA staff could not locate any categorical exclusion determination or any other 

FAA environmental determination for the Arrival Routes made pursuant to NEPA.  

Id. (“I cannot find any files/folders on our r: drive, the SoCal ksn site, or the final 

CATEX ksn database.”).   

Faced with an apparent absence of an environmental determination, FAA 

staff explored ways in which FAA could somehow show that it had conducted 

some analysis that could substitute as the equivalent of an environmental review.  

See id. at 5–6.  For instance, on July 19, 2018, an FAA environmental specialist 

e-mailed numerous FAA staff inquiring whether a “signed copy of the [Initial 

Environmental Review] can be located” and suggesting that “maybe one could 

make the leap that [it] could act as our decision document” if such a document 

could be located.  Id.  Alas, no documentation was found. 

By the end of July 2018, FAA’s internal review showed no environmental 

review of the Arrival Routes had been conducted and no NEPA determination had 

been made before FAA issued its decision.  See id. at 9.  FAA staff documented 

their failure to find any completed environmental review in two internal 

documents.  In a July 27, 2018 document, SoCal Metroplex Post Implementation 

White Paper, FAA concluded that “[s]ome environmental review was conducted, 
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but not completed, e.g., no CATEX or its [Initial Environmental Review] was done 

for the RYDRR, IRNMN and HUULL procedures.”  Id.  In a second document, 

SoCal Metroplex Post Implementation Changes, FAA confirmed this conclusion.  

Id. at 9–10.  According to FAA, “[i]t appear[ed] the environmental review was 

started for the adjustments to the RYDRR, IRNMN and HUULL procedures, but a 

final environmental determination was not completed for these adjustments prior

to procedure publication.”  Id. at 9 (emphasis added). 

V. FAA finally responds to Los Angeles’ request for all environmental 
review documents in September 2018.  

On September 6, 2018, two months after Los Angeles’ initial request for 

environmental documents and over three months after issuing the Arrival Routes 

decision, FAA finally released what FAA described as its environmental analysis 

and documentation for the Arrival Routes decision.  Record Mot., Attach. 1 at 11.  

FAA provided Los Angeles a “Memo to File: re Confirmation of Categorical 

Exclusion Determination” (the Confirmation).  Id.; see also ER.11.  The so-called 

“Confirmation” was signed a day earlier, September 5, 2018, and was 

accompanied by an Initial Environmental Review (IER) prepared in August 

2018—also months after the Arrival Routes decision.  See ER.13.  The 

Confirmation was sui generis, and is not a document that is normally prepared as 

part of the environmental review process.  
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FAA’s Confirmation purports to confirm an earlier environmental review, 

stating “the arrival procedures are the action (Action) for this confirmation of 

categorical exclusion determination.”  ER.11.  In the Confirmation, FAA states that 

it has “confirmed, by the undersigned, that the Action was appropriately 

categorically excluded (CATEX) from further environmental documentation in 

accordance with FAA Order 1050.1F . . . .”  ER.12.  (emphasis added).  FAA states 

affirmatively, “[t]herefore the prior CATEX determination is still valid.”  Id. 

While the Confirmation purported to confirm a prior “categorical exclusion 

determination,” the agency did not produce any documentation of such decision in 

its response to Los Angeles’ explicit request for “any categorical exclusions” made 

for the Arrival Routes.  Record Mot., Attach. 1 at 11.   

VI. FAA certifies an administrative record but still does not identify any 
earlier NEPA determination. 

After failed attempts to mediate the matter, Los Angeles filed this petition on 

June 21, 2019.  On October 4, 2019, FAA filed its index of the administrative 

record for the Arrival Routes decision which was certified by Ryan Weller, an 

FAA environmental specialist.  Certified Indices to the Admin. R., ECF No. 30 

(AR Index).  In the Certification, Weller contended that the Confirmation and IER 

should be included in the record—despite being post-decisional—“because they 

accurately document the environmental review that the FAA conducted before

amending the north downwind arrival procedures, including the FAA’s decision
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that the procedures qualified for a categorical exclusion under [NEPA].”  Id. at 1 

(emphasis added). 

Weller’s certification contradicts his own earlier conclusion, in July 2018, 

that a “final environmental determination was not completed for [the Arrival 

Routes] prior to procedure publication.”  Record Mot., Attach. 1 at 9 (emphasis 

added). 

Neither Weller’s certification of the record, nor the index filed with the 

Court, identifies any documentation of FAA’s supposed categorical exclusion 

decision or NEPA analysis.  See AR Index, ECF No. 30.  In other words, FAA did 

not identify any document that the so-called Confirmation is confirming. 

VII. Over the course of six months of litigation, FAA fails to identify its 
environmental review and NEPA determination. 

In February 2020, Los Angeles moved for summary disposition of its 

petition for review of the Arrival Routes decision based on FAA’s documented 

conclusion it did not conduct an environmental review prior to its Arrival Routes 

decision.  See Mot. for Summ. Disposition, ECF No. 42-1.  FAA opposed Los 

Angeles’ motion, and instead moved the Court to supplement the record with a 

new declaration of Ryan Weller (Weller Declaration) in support of FAA’s 

opposition.  See FAA Opp’n & Cross-Mot. to Suppl. R., ECF No. 50-1.  In his 

declaration, Weller attempts to explain that notes on an Excel spreadsheet prepared 

by a former employee, Janelle Cass, sometime in 2017, constitute the entirety of 
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the agency’s formal NEPA decision.  See Weller Decl., ECF No. 50-2; see ER.89 

(Excel spreadsheet).4

Cass’ notes were included in the administrative record lodged with the Court 

six months earlier, in October 2019, but FAA did not identify her notes as FAA’s 

NEPA review or categorical exclusion determination.  See AR Index 1, 3, ECF No. 

30.  The Weller Declaration does not assert that Weller had contemporaneous 

knowledge of the Cass notes and it contains no indication that Weller even knew of 

the existence of the notes in 2017 at the time that Cass purportedly prepared them.  

See generally Weller Decl., ECF No. 50-2.  Weller explains neither why he 

omitted the Cass notes in prior explanations of the agency decision-making process 

nor the contradiction with prior agency documents which assert that no 

environmental decision had been made.  See id.   

Weller does not assert that the Cass notes were, in fact, the basis for the 

agency decision nor that anyone other than this one former employee ever 

reviewed, considered, or evaluated the notes before FAA made a decision on the 

Arrival Routes.  See id.

VIII. FAA’s decision to restrict public access to the Gateway Site. 

FAA describes the Gateway Site as a “public facing website” where FAA 

publishes for public review and comment all new flight procedures throughout the 

4 The Court referred FAA’s cross-motion to supplement the record with the Weller 
Declaration to the merits panel.  See Order of Aug. 21, 2020, ECF No. 59.
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country.  ER.7.  The Gateway Site provides an invaluable resource for the public to 

keep apprised of, and comment on, proposed FAA flight procedure actions and has 

“the capability to provide notifications to those who sign-up for updates.”  Id.  It is 

widely used and is the principal and definitive source of those proposed airspace 

actions that are not required to be individually published in the Federal Register.5

The Gateway Site has served as the exclusive portal for the public to learn 

of, to review, and to comment on proposed flight procedures.  In recent years, as 

FAA has implemented new flight procedures, the Gateway Site has taken on 

increased significance as the primary vehicle for submission of comments, 

especially where, as in the case of the Arrival Routes decision, FAA does not 

provide the public with a designated review and comment period for proposed 

flight procedures.  FAA has directed interested parties, such as the Roundtable, to 

use the Gateway Site where the public can “provide a detailed description of [its] 

concerns” regarding flight procedures.  Record. Mot., Attach. 2, Ex. K at 4–5. 

Without notification to Los Angeles or the public, sometime in late-2018 to 

early-2019, FAA decided to change the role of the Gateway Site and published a 

5 FAA incorporates flight procedures by reference into the Code of Federal 
Regulations.  14 C.F.R. § 97.20(b).  According to FAA, incorporation by reference 
is appropriate because “[t]he large number” of flight procedures, “their complex 
nature, and the need for a special format make publication in the Federal Register 
expensive and impractical.” 84 Fed. Reg. 18,971, 18,971 (May 3, 2019). FAA 
finds that for flight procedure changes, formal notice and public procedure under 
the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553(b), are “impracticable.”  See 84 Fed. Reg. at 18,971–72. 
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disclaimer requiring any person seeking even to access the site to agree to waive 

any right to comment on the potential environmental impacts of flight procedures.  

See ER.6.  Before accessing the Gateway Site, the disclaimer and waiver requires 

each user to “acknowledge that comments submitted to the IFP Information 

Gateway related to potential environmental impacts will not be considered” by 

FAA, id: 

Because of Los Angeles’ ongoing interest in flight patterns in southern 

California, and the Arrival Routes in particular, it has used the Gateway Site to 

stay abreast of new and amended flight procedures.  On April 25, 2019, Los 

Angeles sought to access the Gateway Site and learned for the first time of the 

disclaimer.  As of the date of filing this Opening Brief, FAA’s disclaimer continues 
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to require each user to elect to forgo submitting comments on the environmental 

impact of flight procedures, if the user desires to access the Gateway Site for any 

reason. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

FAA’s Arrival Routes Decision.  From beginning to end, FAA’s Arrival 

Routes decision bore no resemblance to normal, lawful agency action under the 

APA, NEPA, and other federal environmental laws.  Both the administrative 

record and FAA’s documented conclusions demonstrate that FAA failed to 

conduct an environmental review of the Arrival Routes prior to issuing its decision, 

and then attempted to obfuscate its failures by issuing a so-called Confirmation of 

an earlier fictional environmental decision.  The Court should invalidate FAA’s 

Arrival Routes decision for the following reasons: 

1)   Before making the Arrival Routes decision, FAA conducted no 

environmental analysis of the potential effects of the Arrival Routes, nor sought 

consultation from Los Angeles regarding the potential effects on the City’s historic 

properties and parks and open spaces, in violation of NEPA, the NHPA, and 

Section 4(f).  The Court can and should grant Los Angeles’ petition based on 

FAA’s failure to conduct a pre-decisional environmental review alone. 

2)   After Los Angeles’ request for a copy of FAA’s environmental review 

of the Arrival Routes led FAA to search for an environmental analysis to support 
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its decision, FAA slapped together a document it characterized as “confirming” 

some unknown review, but without any notice to or input from Los Angeles and 

the public.  Even if the Court were to overlook the post-hoc and fictional nature of 

FAA’s Confirmation, it is a perfunctory document unsupported by record evidence 

and bare of substantive analysis, in violation of NEPA, the NHPA, and Section 

4(f). 

3)   In violation of NEPA and the APA, FAA’s post-hoc Confirmation is 

based on the false assumption, without explanation, that aircraft on the Arrival 

Routes would adhere to the minimum altitude at the GADDO waypoint when all 

the information before FAA, including its own data, showed aircraft would fly the 

Arrival Routes at far lower altitudes, causing noise impacts that FAA did not 

consider.  FAA also did not consider the substantial public opposition regarding 

the continuing noise caused by aircraft flying the arrival procedures in violation of 

NEPA. 

FAA’s Gateway Site Decision.  FAA arbitrarily decided to change its 

longstanding policy and restrict the public from accessing the Gateway Site unless 

the user acknowledges that FAA will not consider comments submitted concerning 

environmental impacts of flight procedures, in violation of the APA and NEPA. 

Case: 19-71581, 10/13/2020, ID: 11856948, DktEntry: 64-1, Page 34 of 73



26 

STANDING 

Los Angeles has standing for this petition for review.  To establish standing, 

Los Angeles must show that “(1) it has suffered an ‘injury in fact’ that is 

(a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or 

hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action . . . ; and 

(3) it is likely . . . that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.”  

Krottner v. Starbucks Corp., 628 F.3d 1139, 1141 (9th Cir. 2010) (citation 

omitted).  A city has standing to sue a federal agency “when a harm to the city 

itself has been alleged.”  City of Olmstead Falls v. FAA, 292 F.3d 261, 268 (D.C. 

Cir. 2002) (emphasis omitted). 

I. Los Angeles has been adversely affected by the Arrival Routes and 
FAA’s decision to restrict public comment on the Gateway Site. 

Los Angeles has suffered procedural injuries from FAA’s Arrival Routes 

decision.  “To establish injury-in-fact in a ‘procedural injury’ case, petitioners must 

show that ‘the government act performed without the procedure in question will 

cause a distinct risk to a particularized interest of the plaintiff.’”  City of Dania 

Beach v. FAA, 485 F.3d 1181, 1185 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (citation omitted).   

FAA’s Arrival Routes decision has caused noise impacts that continue to 

adversely affect Los Angeles’ particularized interests, including Los Angeles’ 

(1) proprietary interest in managing the noise impacts of its airport, LAX, 

(2) interests in protecting and managing its historic resources and its parks and 
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other properties that are noise sensitive and negatively impacted by the Arrival 

Routes, and (3) interests in participating in federal agency decision-making 

processes including FAA’s environmental review of proposed flight procedures. 

First, FAA’s implementation of the Arrival Routes without an analysis of 

their environmental impact adversely affects the City’s proprietary interest in 

managing the noise impacts of its airport.  See DiPerri v. FAA, 671 F.2d 54, 58 (1st 

Cir. 1982) (“The FAA itself has steadfastly maintained that the local proprietor has 

primary responsibility for the regulation of airport noise.”); see also City of Las 

Vegas v. FAA, 570 F.3d 1109, 1114 (9th Cir. 2009) (finding injury where flight 

track threatened city’s environmental and land use interests).  Los Angeles plays a 

critical role in the management of the effects of aircraft noise.  As the proprietor of 

LAX, Los Angeles undertakes mitigation, noise planning, and land use 

compatibility efforts to address aircraft noise.  See 49 U.S.C. §§ 47503–47504 

(noise management program for airport proprietors); FAA Order 5190.6B, FAA 

Airport Compliance Manual ¶¶ 13.2.a.(1)–(2) (Sept. 30, 2009) (summarizing 

airport proprietor and federal roles in noise management).  Los Angeles is also 

charged with land use planning and development, zoning, and housing regulations 

to achieve multiple goals, including noise compatibility.  See FAA Order 5190.6B, 

FAA Airport Compliance Manual ¶ 13.2.b.(3) (Sept. 30, 2009) (role of local 

governments in zoning to address aircraft noise compatibility).  Los Angeles has a 
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continued interest in managing LAX operations and the noise impact of arrival 

procedures at the airport, and FAA’s Arrival Routes decision, as well as FAA’s 

restriction of access on the Gateway Site, inhibits Los Angeles from effectively 

managing aircraft noise associated with LAX. 

Second, FAA’s failure to evaluate the Arrival Routes’ environmental impact 

adversely affects the City’s interests in protecting its historic resources.  See City of 

Jersey City v. CONRAIL, 668 F.3d 741, 744–46 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (finding harm to 

city’s ability to protect its interests in the “historic and environmental value” of 

property under NEPA and the NHPA).  The City expends substantial resources and 

exercises its powers to protect its aesthetic and historical character, including the 

ongoing historic preservation and revitalization programs administered by the 

City’s Office of Historic Resources.6  The City created Historic Preservation 

Overlay Zones to identify and protect neighborhoods with distinct architectural and 

cultural resources.  See L.A. Mun. Code § 12.20.3.  Historic properties and at least 

three different historic Overlay Zones (West Adams Terrace, Jefferson Park, and 

Adams-Normandie) are below aircraft flying the Arrival Routes and affected by 

noise increases of aircraft on the Routes.  See supra p. 13, n.3. 

6 The Office of Historic Resources is part of Los Angeles’ City Planning 
Department.  See Program Overview, Los Angeles City Planning, 
https://planning.lacity.org/preservation-design/program-overview (last visited Oct. 
8, 2020).
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The City’s interest in managing and protecting its historic properties is 

explicitly recognized in the NHPA regulations requiring consultation with local 

governments with jurisdiction over affected areas.  36 C.F.R. § 800.2(c)(3).  

FAA’s decision to implement the Arrival Routes without analysis of impacts on 

historic properties, and without consultation with Los Angeles, adversely affects 

the City’s interests in protecting its historic resources. 

FAA’s Arrival Routes decision also harms Los Angeles’ direct interest in its 

parks, recreation areas, and other Section 4(f) properties impacted by the noise of 

planes on the Arrival Routes.  The NHPA and Section 4(f) recognize Los Angeles’ 

right to be consulted before FAA takes any action that might affect or use such 

resources.  City of Phoenix, 869 F.3d at 971, 973.  Due to FAA’s Arrival Routes 

decision, various noise-sensitive historic, park, and recreational resources are 

subjected to constant overflights at low altitudes, which impairs Los Angeles’ 

interests in protecting those resources. 

Further, FAA’s decision to restrict public comment on the Gateway Site 

directly harms Los Angeles’ ability to manage noise at LAX and to review and 

comment on flight procedures that may cause noise and other environmental 

impacts on the City’s NHPA and Section 4(f) resources and its communities. 
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II. The City’s injuries are the result of FAA’s Arrival Routes and Gateway 
Site decisions and are redressable.  

Los Angeles’ injuries have been caused by FAA’s failure to comply with 

federal environmental and administrative law.  See Dania Beach, 485 F.3d at 1186.  

FAA’s decision to implement the Arrival Routes directing aircraft over Los 

Angeles’ historic properties and districts, parks, and neighborhoods has caused 

harm to the City.  These injuries would be redressed by a favorable ruling 

invalidating FAA’s decision and requiring FAA to follow proper environmental 

procedures, including consultation, adequate evaluation of the Arrival Routes’ 

impacts, and consideration of measures and alternatives to minimize impacts of 

aircraft overflights.  Further, a ruling invalidating FAA’s arbitrary restriction on 

public comment through the Gateway Site would redress Los Angeles’ procedural 

injuries by ensuring that the City has an opportunity to review and comment on 

flight procedures that may affect Los Angeles, its resources, and its residents.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Petitions for review of an FAA final decision are reviewed under the APA, 

5 U.S.C. §§ 701–706.  Barnes v. U.S. Dep’t of Transp., 655 F.3d 1124, 1132 (9th 

Cir. 2011).  Under the APA, a court must set aside an agency action if the decision 

is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance 

with law” or taken “without observance of procedure required by law.”  5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2)(A), (D).  An agency action is arbitrary and capricious if: (1) the decision 
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does not rely on the factors that Congress intended it to consider; (2) the agency 

failed entirely to consider an important aspect of the problem; or (3) the agency 

offers an explanation which runs counter to the evidence.  See Motor Vehicle Mfrs. 

Ass’n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). 

ARGUMENT 

I. FAA violated NEPA by issuing the Arrival Routes without conducting 
any environmental review. 

The administrative record and FAA documents establish that FAA made its 

Arrival Routes decision without first conducting any environmental review under 

NEPA.  Then, when FAA identified this legal error, it quickly assembled a post-

hoc, unsupported “Confirmation” of an environmental determination that did not 

exist.  FAA’s failure to conduct a pre-decisional environmental review of the 

Arrival Routes and FAA’s subsequent coverup of its errors violate NEPA. 

A. FAA violated NEPA’s fundamental requirement that an agency 
conduct an environmental review before taking federal action. 

FAA’s administrative record demonstrates that FAA issued the Arrival 

Routes decision without first conducting an environmental review in violation of 

NEPA.   

NEPA requires agencies to “consider every significant aspect of the 

environmental impact of a proposed [agency] action.”  Balt. Gas & Elec. Co. v. 

Nat. Res. Def. Council, 462 U.S. 87, 97 (1983) (emphasis added).  NEPA thus 

ensures “that before an agency acts, it will ‘have available’ and ‘carefully 
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consider[] detailed information concerning significant environmental impacts.’” 

City of Phoenix, 869 F.3d at 971 (alteration in original) (quoting Robertson v. 

Methow Valley Citizens Council, 490 U.S. 332, 349 (1989)).  The NEPA process 

also “guarantees that the relevant information will be made available to the larger 

audience that may also play a role in both the decisionmaking process and the 

implementation of [the] decision.”  Robertson, 490 U.S. at 349. 

In filing its administrative record with the Court in October 2019, FAA did 

not identify any document that the so-called Confirmation is “confirming,” and 

therefore, the record conclusively shows that FAA did not perform any 

environmental analysis under NEPA or even make a thoughtful decision that the 

Arrival Routes were exempt from preparing such analysis.  Nor is there any 

evidence that FAA considered the impacts of the Arrival Routes on Los Angeles’ 

historic resources, parks, or recreation areas under the NHPA and Section 4(f).   

FAA violated NEPA in failing to conduct an environmental review of the 

Arrival Routes.  For that reason alone, the Court should invalidate the Arrival 

Routes decision.  BFI Waste Sys. of N. Am., Inc. v. FAA, 293 F.3d 527, 532 (D.C. 

Cir. 2002) (agency decision is “arbitrary and capricious if, inter alia, [it is] ‘not 

supported by substantial evidence’ in the record as a whole” (citation omitted)). 
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B. FAA admitted it violated NEPA when it privately conceded that 
no environmental review had occurred, and thus, no 
documentation existed showing any such environmental review.

In violation of NEPA, FAA did not document any “categorical exclusion” 

prior to its decision.  See Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-3 (requiring CATEX documentation). 

When FAA discovered that no environmental review had occurred, FAA 

recognized that omission could invalidate its Arrival Routes decision.  Record 

Mot., Attach. 1 at 10 (noting that FAA needed to “shore up its administrative 

processes” and that FAA’s “vulnerability is its NEPA compliance since that is 

what can be challenged in court”).  Thereafter, FAA sought to show compliance 

with NEPA by preparing a post-hoc analysis and stretching the truth.  In certifying 

the record, Weller contended that the Confirmation and IER should be included in 

the record—despite being post-decisional—because they “accurately document” 

FAA’s environmental review “before” its decision.  AR Index 1, ECF No. 30. 

Even if that assertion were legally or factually supportable—it is not—the record 

contains no documented NEPA decision that FAA purported to confirm.   

FAA’s attempt to justify the Arrival Routes decision by offering the post-

decision Confirmation and IER is unavailing.  “NEPA’s effectiveness depends 

entirely on involving environmental considerations in the initial decisionmaking 

process.”  Metcalf v. Daley, 214 F.3d 1135, 1145 (9th Cir. 2000).  NEPA requires 

that, at the time the agency acted, the “agency indeed considered whether or not a 
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categorical exclusion applied and concluded that it did.”  Wilderness Watch v. 

Mainella, 375 F.3d 1085, 1095 (11th Cir. 2004).   

FAA cannot use its Confirmation of some fictional categorical exclusion “as 

a post-hoc rationalization” because to do so would “frustrate the fundamental 

purpose of NEPA,” which is to require agencies to consider “the environmental 

consequences of their actions early enough” to “serve as an important contribution 

to the decision making process.”  California v. Norton, 311 F.3d 1162, 1175 (9th 

Cir. 2002) (citations omitted).  Categorical exclusions cannot be “summoned as 

post-hoc justifications for an agency’s decision.”  Utah Envtl. Cong. v. Russell, 518 

F.3d 817, 825 n.4 (10th Cir. 2008).   

In fact, FAA’s guidance requires that FAA document its determination that a 

categorical exclusion applies to a particular action.  See Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-3; see 

also Norton, 311 F.3d at 1176 (noting that courts will set aside agency decisions 

when there is “no contemporaneous documentation to show that the agency 

considered the environmental consequences of its action and decided to apply a 

categorical exclusion”).  Yet, in violation of NEPA, FAA did not document any 

categorical exclusion prior to its Arrival Routes decision.   

The lack of any environmental document in the administrative record is 

explained in agency documents FAA chose to exclude from the record, wherein 

FAA itself acknowledged that it had conducted no environmental review of the 
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Arrival Routes.  See supra pp. 17–18 (recounting FAA finding that “[s]ome 

environmental review was conducted, but not completed, e.g., no CATEX or its 

IER was done for the [Arrival Routes]”).  When FAA discovered its failure to 

environmentally review the Arrival Routes issued months earlier, FAA could have 

taken appropriate administrative action.  Instead, FAA personnel sought to cover 

up its failure to comply with NEPA by claiming that all that was needed was to 

“confirm” a determination that had never been made. 

FAA’s Confirmation does not cure its admitted failure to comply with 

NEPA.  As the U.S. Supreme Court recently stated in Department of Homeland 

Security v. Regents of the University of California, under the APA, “[t]he basic 

rule . . . is clear:  An agency must defend its actions based on the reasons it gave 

when it acted.”  140 S. Ct. 1891, 1909 (2020). Where, as here, FAA presents a 

post-decisional document in an effort to cure its NEPA violations, this Court has 

“repeatedly held that dilatory or ex post facto environmental review cannot cure an 

initial failure to undertake environmental review.”  Pit River Tribe v. U.S. Forest 

Serv., 469 F.3d 768, 785 (9th Cir. 2006). 

C. FAA’s NEPA compliance cannot be established by a post-hoc 
declaration offered for the first time in the middle of litigation. 

In the face of a record bare of a NEPA decision or analysis, and FAA’s own 

well-documented conclusion that it conducted no NEPA analysis, FAA now seeks 

to spin yet another new story.  FAA’s last-ditch argument turns on the Court’s 
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acceptance of the Weller Declaration, offered in the midst of litigation, which tells 

the unbelievable story that the personal notes of a former employee, Janelle Cass, 

constitute the agency’s formal decision required under NEPA. The Weller 

Declaration is nothing more than another blatant post-hoc rationalization and 

“serve[s] only to underscore the absence of an adequate explanation in the 

administrative record itself.”  Humane Soc’y of U.S. v. Locke, 626 F.3d 1040, 1050 

(9th Cir. 2010).   

First, the Weller Declaration is inadmissible.  Weller’s testimony does not 

comply with the fundamental evidence rule that, to be admissible, a declaration 

“must be made with personal knowledge.”  Hexcel Corp. v. Ineos Polymers, Inc., 

681 F.3d 1055, 1063 (9th Cir. 2012); see also Fed. R. Evid. 602 (“A witness may 

testify to a matter only if evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that 

the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.”); Fed. R. Evid. 701(a) (limiting 

lay testimony to an opinion “rationally based on the witness’s perception”). 

Notably FAA does not offer a statement from Cass, who purportedly 

prepared the notes.  Instead, Weller describes what he believes to be the meaning 

of Cass’ personal notes but has no personal knowledge of the creation of Cass’ 

notes and therefore cannot testify to their purpose or meaning.  Though Weller 

repeats his “belief” that Cass must have conducted a noise screening analysis and 

must have applied a categorical exclusion, he provides no evidence to explain how 
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he came to those beliefs.  See Weller Decl. ¶¶ 6, 8, 10, 12, ECF 50-2.  Weller 

admits that he and his team did not know about Cass’ notes even after she left FAA 

“in spring of 2018,” id. ¶¶ 13, 15, 17, establishing that Weller had no personal 

knowledge of Cass’ notes either when she took them or when FAA made the 

Arrival Routes decision.  FAA has not presented any contemporaneous 

documentation that would justify Weller’s “beliefs”—not even data from the 

“noise screening analysis” Weller guesses that Cass might have conducted.  See id.

¶ 8.   

Second, Weller does not assert that he, or any FAA decision-maker, read, 

reviewed, considered, analyzed, or even knew of the existence of Cass’ notes before 

the Arrival Routes decision.  In essence, Weller would have this Court hold that an 

employee’s personal notes are sufficient for NEPA compliance, with zero evidence 

that the agency decisionmakers knew of the contents, or even the existence of, 

those papers.  This approach is entirely contrary to the purpose of NEPA.  See 

Robertson, 490 U.S. at 349. 

Third, FAA’s records contradict Weller’s “belief” that FAA made a 

categorical exclusion decision before this litigation.  When Weller certified the 

administrative record in October 2019, he did not identify Cass’ notes as FAA’s 

NEPA review or categorical exclusion determination.  See AR Index 1–3, ECF No. 

30.  The Weller Declaration does not include any dates on which Weller 
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discovered the notes and decided to consider them as FAA’s formal NEPA 

decision.  Weller and his team in “the FAA office responsible for conducting 

environmental reviews” “thought that Ms. Cass had not conducted any 

environmental review,” Weller Decl. ¶¶ 1, 15, as late as July 27, 2018, when they 

informed FAA headquarters that no NEPA review had been completed, Record 

Mot., Attach. 1 at 7.  There is no indication that Weller was aware of Cass’ notes 

by September 5, 2018, when Weller signed the Confirmation.  Cass’ notes were 

not included in FAA’s production of documents the next day in response to Los 

Angeles’ request for “[a]ll environmental analysis and documentation . . . 

including any categorical exclusions or initial environmental reports.”  See id. at 

11 (emphasis added). 

In offering the Weller Declaration to show NEPA compliance during 

litigation, FAA would have this Court excuse its failures because an employee 

believes that another employee must herself have believed that a categorical 

exclusion, the lowest level of environmental review, would be all that was required 

to satisfy NEPA.  But that is the very abuse of the process that the Council on 

Environmental Quality has warned against: 

If used inappropriately, categorical exclusions can thwart NEPA’s 
environmental stewardship goals, by compromising the quality and 
transparency of agency environmental review and decisionmaking, 
as well as compromising the opportunity for meaningful public 
participation and review. 
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75 Fed. Reg. 75,628, 75,632 (Dec. 6, 2010) (emphasis added).  Moreover, FAA is 

not entitled to deference to its own opinion of the adequacy of its environmental 

review.  See Nat. Res. Def. Council v. U.S. EPA, 279 F.3d 1180, 1186 (9th Cir. 

2002).  Instead, the Court reviews FAA’s procedural compliance de novo to 

“ensur[e] that statutorily prescribed procedures have been followed.”  Kern Cnty. 

Farm Bureau v. Allen, 450 F.3d 1072, 1076 (9th Cir. 2006) (citations omitted).   

FAA’s Arrival Routes decision cannot be upheld by Weller’s “belated 

justification” contradicted by FAA’s own documented conclusions and 

unsupported by the administrative record.  See Regents of the Univ. of Calif., 140 

S. Ct. at 1909; see Citizens to Preserve Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 

419 (1971) (rejecting “litigation affidavits” as “merely ‘post hoc’ 

rationalizations”).  The Court should vacate and remand FAA’s Arrival Routes 

decision so that FAA can fully comply with NEPA, including providing an 

adequate basis for any new flight procedure decision rather than an inadmissible 

litigation declaration. 

II. Even accepting FAA’s so-called Confirmation as a timely NEPA 
document, FAA violated NEPA and the APA by applying a categorical 
exclusion. 

Even if the Court were to countenance FAA’s tactics (though it should not) 

and accept the latest story that Weller’s Confirmation was designed to confirm 
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Cass’ personal notes, FAA’s use of a categorical exclusion for the Arrival Routes 

is arbitrary and capricious and in violation of NEPA and the APA. 

A. FAA’s categorical exclusion is flawed because it is based on the 
false assumption that aircraft would fly across Los Angeles at 
altitudes established by the Arrival Routes. 

 FAA’s environmental conclusions in the Confirmation are contradicted by 

the information that was before FAA when it issued the Arrival Routes decision.  

The Confirmation therefore violates NEPA and the APA.  See Petroleum 

Commc’ns v. FCC, 22 F.3d 1164, 1172 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (“[W]here the record 

belies the agency’s conclusion, [the court] must undo its action.”). 

FAA’s Confirmation did not evaluate the actual noise impacts of the Arrival 

Routes decision.  Instead, the Confirmation is arbitrary because its environmental 

evaluation is based on a false assumption that aircraft would comply with the 

mandatory 6,000-foot minimum altitude at the GADDO waypoint.  FAA knew—

and objective FAA flight data shows—that virtually all aircraft flying east along 

the Arrival Routes would not comply with the required 6,000-foot altitude at the 

GADDO waypoint and are not complying with the 6,000-foot altitude at the 

DAHJR waypoint.  See ER.94; see Record Mot., Attach. 2, Exs. A–D.  FAA offers 

no explanation of this inconsistency in violation of the APA. 

In the Confirmation, FAA states that it “re-reviewed” the Arrival Routes and 

determined that the Arrival Routes were “appropriately categorically excluded” 
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because they fell within FAA Order 1050.1F’s categories of revised procedures 

conducted at 3,000 feet or more above ground level and therefore presumably 

require less review of potential adverse environmental effects, including noise 

impacts.  ER.12 (citing Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-6.5.i).  FAA also stated that the Arrival 

Routes would decrease vectoring of arriving aircraft, ER.11, and that “[c]ivilian jet 

aircraft are currently flying and would continue to fly the amended procedures.”  

ER.28.  But the flight track data that FAA had before it when it issued the 

Confirmation showed that most aircraft flying the amended procedures were 

being—and would continue to be—vectored off the Arrival Routes and were often 

flying across the City at altitudes lower than 3,000 feet.  Record Mot., Attach. 2, 

Exs. A–C.  This is nothing but a house of cards that falls upon analysis.   

Even assuming that FAA had in fact made an earlier NEPA determination 

about noise impacts before the Arrival Routes decision (it did not), its 

Confirmation of that earlier determination gave FAA another opportunity to 

analyze—not just assume—whether its earlier assumption regarding aircraft 

altitudes was correct.  FAA did no analysis.  Instead, FAA ignored its own flight 

track data showing that, since issuance of its Arrival Routes decision, over 90 

percent of aircraft that had been on the Arrival Routes were well below 6,000 feet 

at the GADDO waypoint.  Id.  Specifically, in August 2018, just before FAA’s 

Confirmation, at least 91 percent of the aircraft were below the GADDO waypoint 
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altitude and 47 aircraft that month were below 3,000 feet at GADDO.  See Record 

Mot., Attach. 2, Ex. A at 6.  Of course, that data is legally pivotal because the 

agency’s own standards for using a categorical exclusion require that aircraft be 

above 3,000 feet.  ER.12 (citing Order 1050.1F, ¶ 5-6.5.i).  Had FAA analyzed 

flight tracks when Cass prepared her notes, or had the agency reviewed its data 

when preparing the Confirmation, it would have discovered that it could not use a 

categorical exclusion for the Arrival Routes.  Thus, twice, in violation of NEPA 

and the APA, FAA ignored is own data showing that it could not apply a 

categorical exclusion.   

As a result of FAA’s false assumption, FAA did not assess the noise impacts 

of the actual flight tracks of aircraft approaching LAX on the Arrival Routes.  

FAA’s reliance on an assumption to justify use of a categorical exclusion violated 

NEPA and FAA Order 1050.1F’s requirements for categorical exclusions.  It did 

not “carefully consider[] detailed information concerning significant environmental 

impacts.”  Robertson, 490 U.S. at 349.   

FAA’s approval of an altitude requirement at the GADDO waypoint that 

FAA did not intend to enforce and with which it knew aircraft would not comply, 

is at the height of arbitrariness.  The altitude requirement at the GADDO waypoint 

is wholly contradicted by the data and information before FAA.  See Petroleum 

Commc’ns, 22 F.3d at 1172.  The Court should set aside FAA’s decision as 

Case: 19-71581, 10/13/2020, ID: 11856948, DktEntry: 64-1, Page 51 of 73



43 

arbitrary and capricious and in violation of the APA.  See State Farm, 463 U.S. at 

43. 

B. FAA violated NEPA when it applied a categorical exclusion 
despite a clear showing of extraordinary circumstances.   

NEPA regulations allow agencies to categorically exclude certain types of 

activities from more detailed EA or EIS review.  But no agency may use a 

categorical exclusion instead of an EA or EIS if “extraordinary circumstances” 

exist.  Extraordinary circumstances exist, inter alia, if the effects are “likely to be 

highly controversial on environmental grounds,” considering “[o]pposition on 

environmental grounds by a Federal, state, or local government agency or by . . . a 

substantial number of the persons affected by the action.”  Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-

2.b.10.   

In City of Phoenix, FAA expressly determined that no extraordinary 

circumstances existed because the new flight paths over the City of Phoenix were 

not likely to be highly controversial.  869 F.3d at 972.  The Court invalidated that 

decision because FAA provided no advanced notice of the changes and therefore 

did not consider “[o]pposition on environmental grounds by a . . . State, or local 

government agency or by . . . a substantial number of the persons affected.”  Id. 

(citation omitted). 

Similarly, here, FAA published the Arrival Routes without conducting any 

environmental analysis or consulting Los Angeles’ experts on the City properties 
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and communities potentially impacted by the Arrival Routes.  FAA did not provide 

any public notice of the proposed routes, the purported original Cass categorical 

exclusion determination, or the subsequent Confirmation.  FAA held no public 

hearings and did not provide any opportunity for the public to review and comment 

on the Arrival Routes.  See Am. Bird Conservancy, Inc. v. FCC, 516 F.3d 1027, 

1035 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (finding that the FCC failed to comply with its own NEPA 

procedures and explaining that “[i]nterested persons cannot request an EA for 

actions they do not know about, much less for actions already completed”).  

FAA failed to engage the public despite that FAA had before it clear 

evidence of significant opposition to the arrival procedures and the lack of 

compliance with minimum altitudes.  Los Angeles and the LAX Noise Roundtable 

had each repeated concerns and submitted multiple comment letters regarding the 

procedures and noise impact of overflights during the months leading up to FAA’s 

May 2018 Arrival Routes decision and the subsequent September 2018 so-called 

Confirmation.  See ER.76–ER.81, ER.94–ER.95; see also Record Mot., Attach. 3; 

see also Attach. 2, Ex. G at 2 (Roundtable’s requesting that FAA “must actually 

observe its own rules for Minimum Altitude at DAHJR (and at GADDO), as we 

have communicated repeatedly”).  Indeed, the Roundtable demanded, without 

success, that FAA “respond to the questions . . . asked about . . . the proposed 

[Arrival Routes]” before they were published.  Id., Attach. 2, Ex. G at 3.  FAA was 
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well-aware of the basis of opposition and concern regarding the procedures, 

because the Roundtable ad hoc committee had reported to FAA for months flight 

track data showing that nine out of ten aircraft would not comply with the 

minimum altitude at the GADDO waypoint.  Id., Attach. 2, Exs. B–C.  FAA even 

acknowledged the lack of compliance with minimum altitudes—responding to the 

Roundtable in February 2018 that FAA was working on “re-enforcing to 

controllers the benefits of keeping aircraft on the procedures as much as possible.”  

Id., Attach. 2, Ex. K at 2.  

However, in violation of NEPA, FAA simply checked the box that 

opposition by “local citizens and community leaders” was “unknown,” ER46, and 

just assumed no controversy (1) without seeking public input on the Arrival Routes 

and (2) by ignoring the evidence before the agency that showed the Arrival Routes’ 

effects could be “highly controversial on environmental grounds.”  Cf. Friends of 

Richards-Gebaur Airport v. FAA, 251 F.3d 1178, 1191 (8th Cir. 2001) (affirming 

CATEX where decision was based on “all relevant factors and available evidence 

relating to the noise impact” and “not on mere speculation”).  As this Court has 

stated, “[w]here there is substantial evidence in the record that exceptions to the 

categorical exclusion may apply, the agency must at the very least explain why the 

action does not fall within one of the exceptions.”  Norton, 311 F.3d at 1177.  At a 

minimum, FAA’s decision was arbitrary because it failed to explain its reason for 
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concluding that extraordinary circumstances were not present in the face of the 

clear evidence of significant concerns about the procedures raised by Los Angeles, 

the Roundtable, and others.   

III. FAA had no basis upon which to conclude that the Arrival Routes would 
not have significant impacts on NHPA and Section 4(f) resources.   

“[I]n addition to making the appropriate determination regarding use of a 

CATEX” under NEPA, FAA also must “document compliance” with its NHPA 

and Section 4(f) obligations, including “any required consultations, findings, or 

determinations.”  Order No. 1050.1F ¶ 5-5.  FAA’s obligations under the NHPA 

and Section 4(f) are independent of FAA’s obligations under NEPA and must be 

satisfied prior to FAA’s Arrival Routes decision.7

Here, FAA did not make any finding, determination, or consult with Los 

Angeles regarding impacts on City historic and park properties prior to publishing 

the Arrival Routes, in violation of the NHPA and Section 4(f).  Then, to cover up 

its failure to comply with the NHPA and Section 4(f), FAA prepared a perfunctory 

Confirmation document without any analysis or consultation on the potential 

impact of the Arrival Routes on properties protected by the NHPA or Section 4(f). 

7 Though the NHPA and Section 4(f) impose environmental review requirements 
independent of NEPA, adverse effects to historic or Section 4(f) resources constitute 
“extraordinary circumstances” rendering an action ineligible for a categorical 
exclusion under FAA guidance.  See Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-2.b.1–.2.  FAA did not 
undertake the analyses necessary to determine whether impacts to historic or Section 
4(f) resources required an EA or EIS under NEPA 
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A. The NHPA and Section 4(f) require that FAA consult with Los 
Angeles regarding potential impacts of FAA flight procedure 
decisions. 

The NHPA “requires Federal agencies to take into account the effects of 

their undertakings on historic properties.”  36 C.F.R. § 800.1(a).  For any 

undertaking that has the potential to affect historic properties, FAA must identify 

the project’s “area of potential effect,” locate all historic properties in that area 

listed or eligible for listing on the National Register, and assess the effect of the 

undertaking on those properties.  36 C.F.R. §§ 800.3(a), 800.4(a)–(c), 800.5.  In 

fulfilling those requirements, FAA “must consult with certain stakeholders in the 

potentially affected areas, including representatives of local governments.”  City of 

Phoenix, 869 F.3d at 971; 36 C.F.R. § 800.2(c)(1), (3).  If FAA determines that no 

historic structures will be adversely affected, “it still has to ‘notify all consulting 

parties’”—including the State Historic Preservation Officer and representatives of 

local governments—“and give them any relevant documentation.”  City of 

Phoenix, 869 F.3d at 971 (quoting 36 C.F.R. § 800.5(c)). 

Section 4(f) provides that FAA may approve a project “requiring the use of 

publicly owned land of a public park, recreation area . . . or land of an historic site 

of national, State, or local significance . . . only if—(1) there is no prudent and 

feasible alternative to using that land; and (2) the program or project includes all 

possible planning to minimize harm . . . resulting from the use.”  49 U.S.C. 
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§ 303(c).  Under FAA’s procedures, it first must “identify as early as practicable in 

the planning process section 4(f) properties that implementation of the proposed 

action and alternative(s) could affect.”  Order 1050.1F ¶ B-2.1.  FAA then makes 

an “initial assessment . . . to determine whether the proposed action and 

alternative(s) would result in the use of any of the properties.”  Id. ¶ B-2.2.  

“[N]oise that is inconsistent with a parcel of land’s continuing to serve its 

recreational, refuge, or historical purpose is a ‘use’ of that land.”  City of 

Grapevine v. Dep’t of Transp., 17 F.3d 1502, 1507 (D.C. Cir. 1994).  FAA must 

consult “all appropriate . . . local officials having jurisdiction over the affected 

Section 4(f) properties” when assessing whether a noise increase might 

“substantially impair the resources.”  See Order 1050.1F ¶ B-2.2.2 (emphasis 

added). 

B. FAA did not fulfill its legal obligations under the NHPA and 
Section 4(f), including consulting with Los Angeles regarding the 
Arrival Routes. 

There is no evidence in the record that FAA considered, much less fulfilled, 

any of its NHPA and Section 4(f) obligations before making its Arrival Routes 

decision.  Because FAA never consulted with Los Angeles, it never had the 

information it needed regarding Los Angeles’ Historic Preservation Overlay Zones 

or historic properties overflown by the Arrival Routes and affected by noise from 

low aircraft overflights, see supra p. 28.  FAA did not have the information it 
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needed regarding adverse effects to historic properties, nor did it consider 

measures to minimize impacts to properties protected by the NHPA.  Further, FAA 

did not evaluate current information on noise impacts from overflights to the City’s 

Section 4(f) properties.  

Here, as in City of Phoenix, FAA’s failure to adequately consider and 

respond to the impacts of noise on historic properties and parks stems from FAA’s 

failure to seek any input or consultation from the public before its Arrival Routes 

decision, in violation of the NHPA and Section 4(f).  See City of Phoenix, 869 F.3d 

at 971, 973–74 (“[B]y keeping the public in the dark, the agency made it 

impossible for the public to submit views on the project’s potential effects [on 

historic and Section 4(f) resources]—views that the FAA is required to consider.”).  

FAA has not learned its lesson—firmly established in City of Phoenix—that 

environmental determinations regarding flight procedures with potential real 

impacts on hundreds of thousands of people cannot be based merely on 

assumptions of FAA staff or their use of a computer model; they must be informed 

by the input from affected communities. 

C. FAA’s Confirmation did not remedy its failure to comply with the 
NHPA and Section 4(f). 

FAA’s post-hoc explanation of its environmental conclusions, prepared after 

aircraft were already flying the Arrival Routes, cannot remedy its violations of the 

NHPA and Section 4(f).  FAA’s August 2018 conclusions in the IER reveal an 
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agency’s attempt to quickly rationalize its failure to conduct a complete and 

adequate assessment of the Arrival Routes’ impacts on historic and Section 4(f) 

properties, particularly Los Angeles’ historic properties and parks affected by the 

procedures.   

First, FAA asserts that it conducted “noise screening” of the Arrival Routes 

based on 2017 flight track data, but the administrative record contains absolutely 

no data or information to support that assertion.  ER.28–ER.30.  If FAA had 

considered flight track data for the Arrival Routes, FAA would have learned that 

its own data showed aircraft consistently below the minimum altitudes on the 

arrival procedures and often below the 3,000-foot threshold that FAA uses to 

justify a categorical exclusion.  See Order 1050.1F, ¶ 5-6.5.i.

Second, FAA’s assumption that there would be no impacts on historic or 

Section 4(f) properties because the Arrival Routes would direct planes over areas 

already experiencing overflights, fails to consider the reality that aircraft were 

usually flying far below the procedures’ minimum altitudes, particularly the 6,000-

foot limit at the GADDO waypoint.  ER.94; see supra pp. 10–13.  FAA conducted 

no analysis of the existing noise levels—or the potential for more noise from the 

Arrival Routes—at Los Angeles’ historic properties and parks underneath the 

procedures or the specific attributes of these properties to determine how the 

Arrival Routes may cause further adverse effects.  See ER.41 (assuming no effects 
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because “there are no new areas overflown”).  Those impacts were precisely the 

reason why Los Angeles formally requested consultation with FAA, as required by 

the NHPA, two months before FAA made its Arrival Routes decision.  See Record 

Mot., Attach. 3 at 2. 

FAA’s conclusory findings in the IER do not satisfy the NHPA or Section 

4(f).  See Safe Extensions, Inc. v. FAA, 509 F.3d 593, 605 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“FAA 

has provided absolutely no evidence to back [its conclusion] up, and . . . an 

agency’s declaration of fact that is capable of exact proof but is unsupported by 

any evidence is insufficient to make the agency’s decision non-arbitrary.” (internal 

citation and quotation marks omitted)).  “[M]ere perfunctory or conclusory 

language will not be deemed to constitute an adequate record.”  Citizen Advocs. for 

Responsible Expansion, Inc. v. Dole, 770 F.2d 423, 434 (5th Cir. 1985); see also 

id. at 436 (criticizing agency’s failure to “consider[] any of the consequences—

noise, visual, aesthetic, traffic, or otherwise—the project would have on any of the 

historic buildings”). 

FAA’s failure to even attempt to gather the information from its own files 

necessary to support the Arrival Routes decision—before or after publishing the 

Arrival Routes—is the very definition of arbitrary and capricious decisionmaking.  

See Or. Nat. Desert Ass’n v. BLM, 531 F.3d 1114, 1142 (9th Cir. 2008) (noting 

that the court “cannot defer to a void” in the agency’s decisionmaking). 
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IV. FAA’s decision to restrict comments on the Gateway Site is a final order 
in violation of the APA and NEPA.  

A. FAA’s disclaimer is a final, reviewable order.  

FAA’s Gateway Site disclaimer is a final, reviewable order. Although 

§ 46110 does not define “order,” the APA defines “order” as “the whole or a part 

of a final disposition . . . of an agency in a matter other than rule making.”  

5 U.S.C. § 551(6); S. Cal. Aerial Advertisers’ Ass’n v. FAA, 881 F.2d 672, 675 (9th 

Cir. 1989) (looking to APA to supply definition of FAA “order”). 

This Court has given “broad construction to the term ‘order’” for purposes 

of § 46110.  Gilmore v. Gonzales, 435 F.3d 1125, 1132 (9th Cir. 2006) (quoting 

Sierra Club v. Skinner, 885 F.2d 591, 592 (9th Cir. 1989)).  The term “‘[o]rder’ 

carries a note of finality, and applies to any agency decision which imposes an 

obligation, denies a right, or fixes some legal relationship.”  Id. (quoting Crist v. 

Leippe, 138 F.3d 801, 804 (9th Cir. 1998)).  The term “order” “should be read 

expansively.”  Dania Beach, 485 F.3d at 1187 (internal quotation omitted); 

Aviators for Safe & Fairer Regul., Inc. v. FAA, 221 F.3d 222, 225 (1st Cir. 2000) 

(same).   

Under § 46110, “an ‘order’ must be final, but need not be a formal order, 

the product of a formal decision-making process, or be issued personally by the 

Administrator.”  Aerosource, Inc. v. Slater, 142 F.3d 572, 578 (3d Cir. 1998).  

“The core question is whether the agency has completed its decision-making 
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process, and whether the result of that process is one that will directly affect the 

parties.”  Franklin v. Massachusetts, 505 U.S. 788, 797 (1992).   

This Court’s final order test is set forth in MacLean v. Department of 

Homeland Security: an agency action is a final order if “(1) it is supported by a 

reviewable administrative record, (2) it is a definitive statement of the agency’s 

position, (3) it has a direct and immediate effect on the day-to-day business [of] the 

party asserting wrongdoing, and (4) it envisions immediate compliance with [the 

order’s] terms.”  543 F.3d 1145, 1149 (9th Cir. 2008) (internal quotations omitted).  

FAA’s Gateway Site disclaimer satisfies the final order test. 

First, FAA has compiled an administrative record for the Gateway Site 

decision exhibiting an agency’s decision-making process.  FAA’s record shows 

that numerous FAA staff (including staff at FAA headquarters and its legal 

department) were involved in the agency’s decision to restrict public comments on 

proposed FAA flight procedure decisions.  See ER.7–ER.10. 

Second, FAA’s Gateway Site decision is a definitive statement of the 

agency’s position.  FAA’s decision implemented a new policy to prohibit 

submission of comments on the environmental impact of FAA flight procedures.  

The disclaimer explicitly states that the agency will not consider comments related 

to environmental impacts on the Gateway Site.  ER.6. 
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Third, the Gateway Site decision has “a direct and immediate effect” on Los 

Angeles and its citizens because it restricts the ability of Los Angeles to comment 

on potential environmental impacts of proposed flight procedures, particularly 

those presenting potential impacts on Los Angeles and its residents.  The Gateway 

Site was the only location where the public could learn of new procedures that 

were not otherwise published and was the only vehicle for submission of 

comments where the agency did not independently solicit public comment.   

FAA’s Arrival Routes decision is a perfect illustration of the importance of 

the Gateway Site.  In this case, FAA issued its Arrival Routes decision without 

prior public notice and without soliciting public comments.  In this instance, the 

Gateway Site was the only means by which the public could provide input on the 

proposed changes to flight procedures.  FAA’s decision to terminate the only 

resource for public input deprives the public from participating in FAA’s 

administrative process.   

Fourth, the Gateway Site decision envisioned immediate compliance.  

Indeed, FAA’s disclaimer prohibits the public from even accessing the site unless 

the user affirmatively acknowledges that FAA will not consider any comments 

submitted concerning environmental impacts of flight procedures on the Site.  See

ER.6. 

Case: 19-71581, 10/13/2020, ID: 11856948, DktEntry: 64-1, Page 63 of 73



55 

Accordingly, FAA’s Gateway Site decision is a reviewable agency action 

and should be invalidated for the reasons discussed below. 

B. FAA’s Gateway Site disclaimer arbitrarily restricts public 
comments on FAA’s proposed flight procedure decisions. 

By requiring the public to waive its right to comment on the environmental 

impacts of flight procedures in order to access the Gateway Site, FAA 

unreasonably and arbitrarily restricts the public’s opportunity to review and 

comment on flight procedures, in violation of the APA and NEPA.   

First, FAA’s decision to restrict access to the Gateway Site and prohibit 

comments on environmental impacts of proposed flight procedure changes is an 

arbitrary departure from previous agency practice, which allowed such public 

comments.  See W. Deptford Energy, LLC v. FERC, 766 F.3d 10, 20 (D.C. Cir. 

2014) (“It is textbook administrative law that an agency must provide a reasoned 

explanation for departing from precedent or treating similar situations differently.” 

(internal quotation omitted)).  Prior to the publication of the disclaimer, the public 

had every reason to believe that comments solicited on the Gateway Site would be 

considered by the agency in its decisionmaking.  In fact, as FAA informed the 

Roundtable in February 2018, “[a] Flight Procedures Specialist reviews all

comments provided to the FAA through the [Gateway Site].”  Record Mot., 

Attach. 2, Ex. K at 5 (emphasis added).   
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The Gateway Site has taken on increased significance as an information tool 

and as the primary vehicle for submission of public comments (especially when a 

separate environmental review comment period is not provided).  In violation of 

the APA, FAA terminated without notice the single most critical resource for the 

public to review and comment on FAA flight procedure decisions where the 

agency has not separately solicited a broad range of comments.  FAA has failed to 

be “cognizant that longstanding policies may have engendered serious reliance 

interests that must be taken into account.”  Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 136 

S. Ct. 2117, 2126 (2016) (internal quotation omitted).  The abrupt change in policy 

is a significant detriment to the public’s role in agency decision making and, in 

violation of the APA, FAA failed to justify its departure from the agency’s practice 

of accepting all forms of comments on the Gateway Site.  See Nw. Envtl. Def. Ctr. 

v. Bonneville Power Admin., 477 F.3d 668, 690 (9th Cir. 2007) (finding that 

agency failed to provide an adequate explanation for a decision to award contracts 

differently than it had previously done and noting that the agency “departed from 

its two-decade-old precedent without supplying a reasoned analysis for its change 

of course”).    

Second, FAA’s decision arbitrarily prohibits comments on certain topics 

(environmental impacts) on a public-facing web portal that was specifically 

established for public review and comment regarding FAA flight procedures.  Even 
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if FAA believes it had good cause to find that notice and comment on proposed 

flight procedure changes are impracticable, unnecessary, or contrary to the public 

interest, see 5 U.S.C. § 553(b), it failed to explain why that finding applies only to 

comments about environmental impacts but not to comments on technical, 

aeronautical, or other topics.  FAA is arbitrarily selecting who can comment and 

what comments it will consider on proposed flight procedure changes that may 

affect the general public.  Cf. Riverbend Farms., Inc. v. Madigan, 958 F.2d 1479, 

1486 (9th Cir. 1992) (finding agency’s practice of notifying only certain interested 

parties of meetings at which comment could be made was inadequate under APA).  

FAA’s decision to welcome the public to use the Gateway Site to submit any 

comments on flight procedures, so long as those comments did not address 

environmental issues, lacks a rational basis, in violation of the APA.  See 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2). 

Third, by prohibiting environmental comments on the Gateway Site, FAA 

violates NEPA by willfully preventing the agency from obtaining and considering 

all relevant information regarding environmental consequences of its decisions.  

NEPA’s intent is to ensure an agency considers all relevant environmental 

information and “guarantees that the relevant information will be made available to 

the larger audience that may also play a role in both the decisionmaking process 

and the implementation of [the] decision.”  Robertson, 490 U.S. at 349.  FAA has 
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memorialized NEPA’s objectives in its guidance implementing the statute, FAA 

Order 1050.1F, which expresses “FAA’s commitment to make complete, open, and 

effective public participation an essential part of its actions, programs, and 

decisions” and mandates that at the “earliest appropriate time” FAA “must provide 

pertinent information to the affected communities and agencies and consider their 

comments.”  Order 1050.1F ¶ 2-5.1 to .2.   

FAA’s disclaimer requiring users to acknowledge that environmental 

comments submitted on the Gateway Site will not be considered thwarts NEPA’s 

objectives and violates FAA Order 1050.1F.  FAA’s decision to affirmatively 

suppress comments from affected communities is particularly detrimental when the 

public has information regarding extraordinary circumstances that may prevent the 

agency from using a categorical exclusion.  See Order 1050.1F ¶ 5-2.b.10.   

FAA’s Gateway Site decision arbitrarily excludes consideration of 

comments on environmental impacts of flight procedures and violates the 

fundamental purpose of NEPA.  See 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). 

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT 

The Court should vacate and remand FAA’s Arrival Routes decision and 

require that FAA conduct a proper environmental review of the Arrival Routes in 

compliance with NEPA and applicable federal law, including reevaluation of the 
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Arrival Routes’ minimum altitudes with which aircraft flying the Routes must 

comply.   

Vacatur of FAA’s Gateway Site decision is also warranted.  An order 

vacating the disclaimer would reinstate the public’s participation in FAA flight 

procedure decisions as required by the APA and NEPA.  Vacatur would require 

FAA to simply terminate the Gateway Site’s disclaimer and return to its 

longstanding policy of accepting all forms of public comment on the Gateway Site. 

This Court orders remand without vacatur “only in ‘limited circumstances.’”  

Pollinator Stewardship Council v. U.S. EPA, 806 F.3d 520, 532 (9th Cir. 2015).  

Failure to strictly comply with the agency’s NEPA requirements is arbitrary and 

capricious.  Agency decisions are vacated where, as here, an agency fails to 

comply with NEPA’s procedural requirements.  See, e.g., Am. Bird Conservancy, 

516 F.3d at 1033–34 (vacating categorical exclusion when more significant review 

was required); Metcalf, 214 F.3d at 1135 (requiring agency to “suspend 

implementation of the [project], begin the NEPA process afresh, and prepare a new 

EA” when agency did not comply with NEPA).  This Court has explained that 

“[b]ecause [NEPA] is procedural in nature, [the Court] will set aside agency 

actions that are adopted without observance of procedure required by law.”  Pit 

River Tribe, 469 F.3d at 781. 
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Specifically, vacatur is the appropriate remedy where FAA has failed to 

comply with NEPA before altering flight procedures.  See City of Phoenix, 869 

F.3d at 975 (vacating flight routes and procedures because FAA’s NEPA analysis 

was arbitrary and capricious, among other reasons); City of Dania Beach, 485 F.3d 

at 1190 (vacating FAA letter adopting new runway use procedures “for failure to 

follow the environmental review procedures required by NEPA”).   

The factual circumstances in this proceeding justify vacatur of FAA’s 

decision to implement the Arrival Routes.  FAA concluded that no environmental 

review of the Arrival Routes was conducted before it made its decision—resulting 

in an uninformed and unlawful final order that did not consider the potential 

environmental impacts of the agency’s action.  The severity of FAA’s error is 

further highlighted by its subsequent affirmative acts to cover up the lack of NEPA 

review, including FAA’s certification to the Court that a categorical exclusion 

determination was completed before its Arrival Routes decision, when FAA had 

unequivocally concluded no such determination had been made.  See Record Mot. 

Attach. 1 at 7, 9. 

By issuing the Arrival Routes, without first conducting environmental 

review, FAA’s decision violates NEPA and was made “without observance of 

procedure required by law.”  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(D).  Therefore, the Arrival Routes 
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decision should be vacated.  Pit River Tribe, 469 F.3d at 781; Metcalf, 214 F.3d at 

1135. 

Respectfully submitted on October 13, 2020. 

/s/ Peter J. Kirsch  
PETER J. KIRSCH 
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pkirsch@kaplankirsch.com 
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